1959

# George G. McAnerney v. Department of Public Safety, Drivers' Licensen Division, and George C. Miller : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts are undisputed. Mr. McAn-  
erney is a resident of Utah. He is the sole sales rep-  
resentative in the intermountain area for a large  
paper company (R. p. 11). By the nature of his  
business he is required to drive long distances, aver-  
aging 800 to 1000 miles a week (R. p. 11-12). He  
has been driving an automobile since 1932, a period  
of 27 years, and has never been involved in an ac-  
cident (R. p. 12-13).

On March 8, 1956, he was arrested by the Utah

Highway Patrol for speeding in Brigham City. On March 28, 1957 he was arrested by the Utah Highway Patrol for speeding near Farmington, Utah, being clocked at 66 miles per hour in a 50-mile zone. On May 28, 1957, he was arrested for speeding in Salt Lake City. On the basis of these three arrests the Department of Motor Vehicles did issue a notice of suspension of his driver's license for a three-month period. On October 11, 1957, after Mr. McAnerney had come to see defendant George Miller, this was changed to a restricted license (Ex. P-1, p. 2). Mr. McAnerney has been charged with no other traffic offenses in the State of Utah until May 19, 1958, when he was again arrested for speeding on South State Street in Salt Lake County. The files of the Motor Vehicle Department have reports from the Arizona Highway Patrol indicating a charged traffic violation in Tucson on March 16, 1958, (which McAnerney testified was for making a "rolling stop" on a Sunday morning. R. p. 15-16) and from the State of Nevada indicating a charged violation in Nevada January 23, 1958, (which McAnerney testified was for going about 35 m.p.h. in a 25 m.p.h. zone. R. p. 16-17).

On July 1, 1958, Mr. McAnerney received another notice of suspension suspending his license for six months, for the stated reason of habitual negligent driving. On July 22, 1958, Mr. McAnerney and

his counsel did request a hearing and appeared on that date before defendant Miller who read over his file with the dates and offenses charged against McAnerney and did inform them that this constituted a hearing, that he would not go behind on the documents in his file, and that McAnerney was habitually negligent (R. p. 1-2.). McAnerney appealed from this determination and after hearing the District Court, the Honorable Aldon J. Anderson presiding, did on August 8, 1958, rule that the order of suspension of McAnerney's license was null and void and would be set aside (R. p. 30-32.).

Shortly thereafter, on September 4, 1958, defendants did issue an additional order of suspension. McAnerney requested in writing a hearing and on September 22nd McAnerney and his counsel appeared before Mr. Miller and a stenographer of his office.

The stenographer's notes, introduced in evidence as Exhibit P-1, showed that the following was said:

This is a hearing before George C. Miller, Director of Drivers' License Division, as hearing officer. This is the date set as requested by George Gardner McAnerney at the request of his attorney Albert J. Colton as the result of a six months' suspension of Mr. McAnerney's driving privilege in the State of Utah.

The record can show that his license had

been suspended by the Drivers' License Division on October 7, 1957, for a period of three months at which time Mr. McAnerney requested a hearing and was granted a restricted driver's license to drive in connection with his work with International Paper Company. The record will further show that there is here in connection with this hearing the driver license folder of Mr. McAnerney including the Reports of Conviction from the respective courts wherein Mr. McAnerney has been charged with certain violations of the traffic laws. The record may show that in the opinion of the Department it is not necessary to subpoena any of the officers who have given citations or the judges to prove the convictions in this driver folder nor to subpoena any witnesses, nor any records in addition to the record as held by the department.

Mr. Colton: Just a minute Mr. Miller, do you intend to put on any evidence?

Mr. Miller: None whatever other than the record itself.

Mr. Colton: Are you offering the record as evidence?

Mr. Miller: I am accepting it as evidence.

Mr. Colton: You are acting in this case in the capacity of the hearing officer?

Mr. Miller: Correct.

Mr. Colton: And you are submitting to us the file?

Mr. Miller: That is correct and accepting it.



Mr. Colton: And as I understand it the State of Utah does not intend to put on any evidence other than the file?

Mr. Miller: None whatever.

Mr. Colton: I would like ..... record a motion that the suspension of Mr. McAnerney's driver's license be vacated on the grounds for the reason that the State of Utah has failed to put on sufficient evidence to constitute good cause to show that Mr. McAnerney is an habitually negligent driver, and that pursuant to the provisions of the applicable statutes and further pursuant to the request for a hearing made by me in writing in a letter addressed to Mr. Miller on September 8, 1958, it was requested that the Department produce witnesses to testify under oath as to the reason for the Order of Suspension on the grounds stated so that Mr. McAnerney through his counsel could cross examine these witnesses and examine the relevant books and papers which would be produced pursuant to this request.

Mr. Miller: The Department has deemed under Section 41-2-19 Utah Code Annotated 1953 subsection 4 that Mr. McAnerney is an habitually negligent driver and denies the motion as heretofore stated by Mr. Colton.

Mr. Colton: Again for the record Mr. Miller as a background for another motion I would like to make I am not sure what relevance to this hearing the fact that Mr. McAnerney's license was suspended on October 7, 1957, has and without any showing of re-

striction I would motion to strike from the record any records of this.

Mr. Miller: The procedure of the Drivers' License Division as established is that when an individual has three moving violations in any consecutive 18 month period the first suspension is a three-month suspension. The second suspension is a six-month suspension. The situation in this proceeding at the present time is that Mr. McAnerney has had his six months' suspension in accordance with the administrative procedure of the Department.

Mr. Colton: But doesn't it have anything to do with whether Mr. McAnerney is or is not an habitual negligent driver?

Mr. Miller: As in the fact that he has had a previous suspended license and has been before the Department and apprised of his violations and then the continued violations as shown by the record is evidence that he is an habitual negligent driver as provided in the section heretofore stated.

Mr. Colton: I would like to move to strike any reference to the previous suspension on the grounds that the record as it now stands shows no reference to the previous suspension on the grounds of .....

Mr. Miller: That will be denied.

Mr. Colton: I take it the State rests.

Mr. Miller: Yes, call Mr. McAnerney to be sworn in . . .

Mr. Colton: I take it that the basis

upon which the State is acting are the violations which are shown on the file where it says "Applicant's Driving Record this side for Department use only?"

Mr. Miller: And also the reports of conviction in the folder itself.

Mr. Colton: I notice that there is a line drawn between the first and second notations.

Mr. Miller: That was a line made by myself when Mr. McAnerney was in my Office as of October 11, 1957, at which time I granted him a restricted license in connection with his record up to October 7, 1957.

At that time McAnerney did testify describing in detail the facts and circumstances surrounding each event referred to in the Department's files. Miller then entered an order suspending McAnerney's license from which McAnerney appealed to the District Court. McAnerney petitioned for review, alleging that defendants had unconstitutionally deprived him of property without due process and improperly found him to be an habitual negligent driver. (R. p. 36-39)

The matter was heard again by the Honorable Aldon J. Anderson. The court stated at the outset of the hearing "As it stands, as the court views the statute, is the fact that the Department found he was a negligent driver, and you may put on evi-

dence to refute that.” (R. p. 10). Mr. McAnerney was put on the stand and testified to the facts surrounding the citations contained in the State’s file.

The State put on no testimony other than that of Mr. Miller who merely stated that he had given Mr. McAnerney a hearing. Although the transcript does not show it, evidently the following documents were marked and accepted into evidence:

Three reports of conviction for violation of motor vehicle laws, Form DLD-19 3-56.

Exhibit 3 had attached to it a form “Citation” of Utah Highway Patrol. Exhibit 1 had upon it the words “Bail posted and forfeited”.

The trial court then entered findings of fact reciting that “Based upon the record of six arrests for moving vehicle violations contained in files of defendants herein, within a period of 18 months, three within the State of Utah, and three without the State of Utah, and based on the testimony of plaintiff before this court, plaintiff is declared to be an habitually negligent driver,” and the administrative action was affirmed. From this determination, Mr. McAnerney appeals.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I. INTRODUCTION

#### POINT II.

APPELLANT IS NOT AN HABITUAL NEGLIGENT DRIVER.

- a. *Definitions.*
- b. *The means by which the State attempted to prove its case were improper and unconstitutional.*
- c. *Even if the means used by the State to prove its case were proper, the evidence is not sufficient to prove habitual negligence.*

#### POINT III.

THE STATE ERRED IN USING THE SAME EVIDENCE TWICE.

#### POINT IV.

COURTS HAVE NOT HESITATED TO RIGIDLY CONSTRUE STATUTES OF THIS SORT.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I. INTRODUCTION

Appellant, as one who drives on the public highways much more than the average person, would be the first to recognize that the safety of all people, including himself, must be safeguarded by the State of Utah's sincere and earnest attempts to enforce its traffic laws. But as history shows, it is often the overzealousness of those working for ad-

mittedly worthy ends that pose some of the greatest threats to our democratic society. It is appellant's contention that the cries of the public and of the press for traffic "enforcement" must not overshadow the basic rights and dignity of each citizen, and of the orderly process of law in a field which probably brings more people in contact with the machinery of law enforcement than any other. Appellant contends that the State has not shown him to be habitually negligent.

## POINT II.

### APPELLANT IS NOT AN HABITUAL NEGLIGENT DRIVER.

#### *a. Definitions.*

"Habitual" has been defined as something which is "*repeated by force of habit.*" Webster's New International Dictionary 2nd Sd. "Habit" is defined as "A settled disposition or tendency . . . leading one to do easily, naturally, and with growing skill or certainty what one does often." The State would have one believe that the record here appellant contends that the State has used an improper procedure and has not shown him to be habitually negligent.

#### *b. The means by which the State attempted to prove its case were improper and unconstitutional.*

The statute under which the respondents pro-

ceeded is Section 41-2-19, Utah Code Annotated 1953. This provides inter alia that three moving violations of the motor vehicle laws of Utah shall be deemed prima facie evidence of habitual negligence and that the Department may immediately suspend the license without receiving a record of conviction whenever the Department has reason to believe that such person is an habitual negligent driver.

However, the law further provides that upon suspending such a license the person shall be entitled to a hearing and further

“Upon such hearing the Department or its duly authorized agent may administer oaths and may issue subpoenas for the attendance of witnesses and the production of relevant books and papers and may require re-examination of the licensee. One or more members of the Department may conduct such hearing, and any decision made after a hearing before any number of the members of the Department shall be as valid as if made after a hearing before the full membership of the Department. After such hearing the Department *shall* either rescind its order of suspension or, *good cause appearing therefor*, may extend the suspension of such license or revoke such license.” (Emphasis ours.)

Appellant contends that this statute places the burden of proof upon the State to show good cause if they choose to suspend the license, and that the administrative travesty set forth as a “hearing”

in this case could not conceivably be construed as meeting this test. Moreover, Appellant contends that the trial judge also misconstrued the function of the statute by stating that it was up to the driver to refute this finding, and to base the court's conclusion to any extent on the evidence of convictions contained in the State's files was erroneous.

Mr. Miller acted as judge and prosecutor. He merely looked at his file, found what he considered evidence of three violations, and made his determination. He expressly rejected appellant's rights to cross-examine those who executed the documents in question or to confront them and made his determination even prior to Mr. McAnerney's chance to tell his own story.

It has been clearly established by many courts that such procedure is improper.

“Where a hearing is required, it must be held in accordance with the statute or ordinance, and, where the officer before whom the hearing is had exercises quasi-judicial functions, he must exercise them in a legal manner. Such hearing is a judicial hearing at which the acting board or official may act only on the specific charges made and the licensee has a right to be confronted by the witnesses who testify against him, and should be afforded an opportunity to cross-examine his accusers. The decision revoking the license must be based on legal evidence of sufficient weight to support such charges; but



if such hearing is civil in its nature, even though the charges made are based on the commission of a crime, the charges so made may be established by a preponderance of the evidence." 60 C.J.S. 492, Motor Vehicles Sec. 160.

Thus a New York court in a hearing dealing with the revocation of a driver's license, where evidence supporting the State was introduced in the form of affidavits from police officers, made the following statement:

"In determining that question it must be remembered that the license which has been annulled is of substantial value to the petitioner. It is a permit issued according to law by the Motor Vehicle Bureau for him to drive an automobile, without which it would be unlawful for him to do so. He has a vested right therein which cannot be taken from him capriciously or arbitrarily.

"In a proceeding of this kind the Commissioner of Motor Vehicles is given quasi-judicial functions which he must exercise in a legal manner. The revocation of petitioner's license was not based upon a conviction; therefore it can only be revoked after a hearing and upon good cause based upon competent legal testimony. Petitioner has a right to be confronted with the witness at such hearing and given an opportunity to cross-examine his accusers. That is the only way he can secure a fair hearing (citing cases). Failure to give the accused an opportunity to be heard in his own defense and to cross-examine his

accusers violates a basic right secured to every citizen by our Constitution.

“In my opinion, substantial rights of the petitioner were violated to his prejudice when the Commissioner received the affidavit of the witness Barry and the testimony of the witness Garman without giving the petitioner an opportunity to be confronted by his accusers and to cross-examine them or either of them.

“Petitioner’s application to vacate the order of revocation of petitioner’s license is granted.” *Re application of Goodwin*, 173 Misc. 169, 17 N. Y. Supp. 2d 426, 428 (1940).

Accord, *Re application of Kafka*, 272 App. Div. 364, 71 N. Y. Supp. 2d 179 (1947).

The Supreme Court of Rhode Island, in holding that proof was insufficient to justify revocation of a driver’s license, stated:

“As the hearing is a judicial hearing, it follows that the decision of the Board must be based on legal evidence as sufficient weight to support the specific charges made. By the terms of the act the Board may in its discretion refuse to grant a license to any applicant whom for any reason it considers an improper person. A broad discretion is thus given to the board which of course must be exercised in a manner reasonable and not arbitrary. But the power to revoke a license after a hearing is more restricted. The words of the act ‘for any cause the board may deem sufficient’ must be construed in the light of

the other parts of the act. The provision for notice and hearing restricts the power of the board to act only on the charges made. The Board revoked the license on the ground that Glass was an unfit and improper person to be licensed. The only support for this finding is that the board found him guilty of a single offense of receiving stolen goods. In our opinion, the evidence is not sufficient to support this finding . . . Although in the circumstances it is perhaps too much to expect that the established rules of legal procedure should be followed with the exactness required of a court of law, yet it is only fair to the accused that there should be a substantial compliance with the fundamental rules of legal proceedings . . ." p. 245. *Glass v. State Board of Public Roads*, R. I., 115 Atl. 244, (1921).

In *Willis v. Commonwealth*, Va., 56 S. E. 2d 222, (1949), Willis was given a notice to appear and show cause why his license should not be suspended or revoked because he had been convicted of reckless driving on March 14, 1947, and that he had been involved in accidents in Virginia on July 25, 1946, August 14, proceeding to suspend or revoke driving privileges because of involvement in accidents, the burden of proof was upon the Commonwealth. It stated that while the properly authenticated abstract of a conviction of the defendant for reckless driving may constitute prima facie evidence that he operated his motor vehicle recklessly on the occasion involved and casts upon the defendant the burden of proof

that his conduct was not such as to show that he was an unsafe driver or that his continued operation of a motor vehicle constitutes a hazard to other highway users.

“If the explanation given in his testimony is reasonable and credible, especially when not contradicted by testimony of any other witness, it should not be disregarded but should be weighed along with the other evidence in the case . . . the test is whether the revocation or suspension of the operator’s license is necessary for the safety of [others] on the highway’. This must be determined on the basis of the past conduct of the defendant.” (p. 224)

The court held that the introduction at the hearing of reports of drivers of other cars and of investigating officers was prejudicial error.

“We hold that it was prejudicial error for the court to consider the ex parte statements contained in the reports. A fair trial, to be in conformity with the statutory provisions referred to above, required that the appellant be given an opportunity to cross-examine the persons who made these statements. The reports themselves were clearly inadmissible under the mandate of the statute.

“The purpose of the statute is to deny the use of the highways to persons who are known to have been so reckless in their customary operation of motor vehicles that a repetition of the same, or similar conduct,

may be expected, and if it occurs, it will constitute a menace to the safety of others. The statute has not only a laudable object, but a necessary one. Accidents due to carelessness or recklessness are taking a terrible toll of life and limb. But it was intended to apply only to drivers who are, in fact, unsafe, and this fact the statute contemplates must be proved by clear and reliable evidence at a fair trial." See also *Stella v. MacDuff*, 281 App. Div. 800, 119 N. Y. Supp. 2d 483 (1953).

The trial judge neither treated this as a review of an administrative hearing or as a de novo proceeding. He assumed that in the hearing before him the burden was upon McAnerney to overcome the administrative finding. In order to do this, the judge should have at least looked to the administrative record to see if these were even colorable compliance with the statute and administrative due process. This would be the minimum standard for proper judicial review. This was not done, and even if it had been done, the administrative record clearly showed that there was not one scintilla of proper evidence to support the administrative finding. If, on the other hand, Section 41-2-20 Utah Code Annotated 1953 is construed as requiring a hearing de novo, then this was obviously not done here, as the State did nothing more to sustain its position than to introduce in evidence (the transcript does not even show this was done) three unidentified blue pieces

of paper. Under either alternative, the trial court's procedure was improper.

- c. *Even if the means used by the State to prove its case were proper, the evidence is not sufficient to prove habitual negligence.*

To establish even a prima facie case under the statute, the State must have evidence of "three violations" of the Motor Vehicle Code. Mr. Miller relied solely upon the "Report of Conviction for Violation of Motor Vehicle Law." These pieces of paper remained unidentified, out of court declarations by unidentified parties. Other than those pieces of paper there is no evidence of a conviction at all. There is no evidence that a complaint was ever filed in any of these matters, nor is there one bit of testimony that McAnerney was convicted of any of these offenses.

Even the "ticket" or "citation" issued by a traffic officer (such as the one appended to Exhibit 3) is merely a notice to appear. (Sec. 41-6-167 UCA '53). As traffic offenses are a crime (Sec. 41-6-164 UCA '53), the Code of Criminal Procedure applies, and this require the commencement of the action by complaint under oath (Sec. 77-57-2; 77-10-1 UCA '53). Even the statutory provision that forfeiture of bail is equivalent to a conviction (Sec. 41-2-17c UCA '53) certainly means bail posted after a complaint has been filed and an action properly commenced.

This problem is one that this court is of course quite familiar with because of the rule enacted by it on January 7, 1958, to be effective February 1, 1959, providing a procedure whereby notices given by police officers may be treated as complaints.

Moreover, each Utah offense charged against McAnerney was a speeding charge for exceeding posted limits. Under Utah law, speeds in excess of posted limits are only prima facie evidence that such speeds were not reasonable and prudent, and the sole statutory prohibition is that a driver may not drive at a speed greater than is "reasonable and prudent under the conditions and having regard to the actual and potential hazards then existing." Section 41-6-46,, Utah Code Annotated 1953. A review of the transcript of McAnerney's testimony in these cases, which is the only evidence before the court, surely does not justify a finding that his speed was not reasonable and prudent under the conditions.

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