1959

George G. McAnerney v. Department of Public Safety, Drivers' Licensen Division, and George C. Miller : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts as outlined in appellant's brief are substan-
tially correct and are not in dispute.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

INTRODUCTION

POINT II.

APPELLANT IS A HABITUAL NEGLIGENT DRIVER.

- (a) DEFINITION.
- (b) THE PROOF ADDUCED BY THE STATE WAS PROPER AND CONSTITUTIONAL.
- (c) THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE HABITUAL NEGLIGENT DRIVING.

POINT III.

NO ERROR WAS COMMITTED BY PERMITTING TWO PREVIOUS CONVICTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED IN ARRIVING AT THE CONCLUSION THAT THREE VIOLATIONS OCCURRED WITHIN AN EIGHTEEN MONTH PERIOD.

POINT IV.

LICENSE TO DRIVE IS A PRIVILEGE AND THE DISCRETIONARY ACTION OF THE DIRECTOR IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

INTRODUCTION

The Legislature has plenary power over the highways, which may impose conditions under which the limited right

of use may be exercised, and may regulate the manner and circumstances under which automobiles may be operated thereon. *Commonwealth v. Funk*, 323 Pa. 390, 186 A. 65 (1936).

Pronouncements to the same effect may be found in practically every state.

The power of the state to regulate traffic and prescribe conditions under which motor vehicles may be operated extends even to the power to prohibit their operation on highways when conditions or circumstances render it reasonably necessary to bar such use for safety and protection of the public.

This power (police power) is inherent in every sovereignty and permits the enactment of laws within constitutional limits to promote the general welfare of the citizens. Therefore, in the interest of the public, the state may make and enforce regulations reasonably calculated to promote care on the part of all those who use its highways. *Hadden v. Aitken, et al.*, 156 Neb. 215, 55 N. W. 2d 620 (1952).

While it is the function of the State Legislature to make and ordain the laws, such measures necessarily must be put into effect by and through proper administrative agencies of government, operating by virtue of power and authority delegated to them by the Legislature. In the field of driver licensing, these administrative functions have been conferred upon agencies such as the Department of Licensing in the State of Utah and the Public Safety Department.

In all cases the Legislature selects the subject, and indicates the public policy with respect thereto. The subject is thereby brought within governmental control.

POINT II.

APPELLANT IS A HABITUAL NEGLIGENT DRIVER.

- (a) DEFINITION.
- (b) THE PROOF ADDUCED BY THE STATE WAS PROPER AND CONSTITUTIONAL.
- (c) THE EVIDENCE IS SUFFICIENT TO PROVE HABITUAL NEGLIGENT DRIVING.

POINT III.

NO ERROR WAS COMMITTED BY PERMITTING TWO PREVIOUS CONVICTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED IN ARRIVING AT THE CONCLUSION THAT THREE VIOLATIONS OCCURRED WITHIN AN EIGHTEEN MONTH PERIOD.

POINT IV.

LICENSE TO DRIVE IS A PRIVILEGE AND THE DISCRETIONARY ACTION OF THE DIRECTOR IS CONSTITUTIONAL.

It seems completely logical to combine respondent's arguments on Points II, III and IV of appellant's brief. We shall attempt to do so in order.

In answer to subparagraph (a) of Point II, respondent declares that the record discloses to any reasonable mind that the appellant "repeated by force of habit" the violations charged against him. By his own admissions, Ex-

hibit P-1 and R. 13-24, appellant concedes he knew of posted limitations, but nevertheless contends if traffic was light and conditions good, a minor excess in his driving offended no one, hence he is not a habitual negligent driver. We submit that under the definition of "habitual" as set forth in appellant's brief, Mr. McAnerney comes squarely within that definition.

Appellant has stated the law which is designated as Section 42-2-19, U. C. A. 1953, on page 11 of his brief. The procedure as outlined by the Utah statutes is such that the department *may* subpoena witnesses and examine the licensee with respect to his violations. The licensee has under the law the right to demand the appearance of witnesses against him and if such demand is made, the witnesses could and should be subpoenaed so that he may have the right of cross examination. This he did not do. The nature of the cause is civil and not criminal. At both the hearing before Miller and the Court, McAnerney testified regarding the citations. From his testimony alone the hearings substantially support the findings.

In the cases submitted by appellant the question of whether the license is a right or a privilege is considered. We submit that the license to operate a motor vehicle on a public highway is a privilege granted by the state and not guaranteed, nor is it an inalienable right.

The weight of authority is to the effect that the driving of an automobile upon public highways is a privilege and not a property right and is subject to reasonable regulation under the police power in the interest of public

safety and welfare. In a leading case involving the financial responsibility law of New Hampshire, *Rosenblum v. Griffin*, 89 N. H. 314, 197 A. 701, the court stated:

“The operation of an automobile upon the public highway is not a right but only a privilege which the state may grant or withhold at pleasure. What the state may withhold it may grant upon condition.
* * * The statute confers a privilege which the citizen is at liberty to accept by becoming a licensee, or not, as he pleases. Having accepted the privilege he cannot object to any conditions which have been attached thereto by a grantor with power to entirely withhold the privilege.”

See *Thornhill v. Kirkman*, 62 So. 2d 740 (1953); *Rawson v. Department of Licenses*, 15 Wash. 2d 364, 130 P. 2d 876 (1942); *Doyle v. Kahl*, 242 Iowa 153, 46 N. W. 2d 55 (1951).

As to whether the proof adduced was improper, we call the Court's attention to the case of *Carnegie v. Department of Public Safety*, 60 So. 2d 728 (Fla.) (Special Division B 1952), where the court held:

“Because it appears that the lower court may have misconceived its duties and responsibilities under Section 322.31, Florida Statutes, and for the future guidance of the courts in hearing ‘appeals’ under the provisions of this statute we feel it incumbent to point out that Section 322.31 requires the court on such appeal to take testimony and examine into the facts of the case, and to determine whether the petitioner is entitled to a license or is subject to suspension, cancellation or revocation of his license under the provisions of this chapter.”

In construing a similar provision of the Pennsylvania Vehicle Code, 75 PS, para. 193, the courts of that state have

uniformly held that the cases are heard de novo by the court and not merely as a review of the action of the department charged with the enforcement of the Vehicle Code of that state; that it is the duty of the court "to hear evidence and determine in the exercise of its sound discretion and in the furtherance of justice whether the license should be suspended."

This would certainly seem to be the better rule, where as in this state the department is authorized to suspend without a hearing and the operator may appeal, directly to a court of record from such suspension, so that the hearing before the court is the first opportunity he has had to present his side of the story and to confront and cross examine the witnesses against him. While the policies developed by the department in the course of its enforcement of the Drivers' License Act should be given due consideration by such court, we hold with the Pennsylvania courts that such court has the jurisdiction and responsibility to make its own findings of fact independently of the ex parte administrative findings of the department.

In this case a "hearing" was had before George Miller, the Director of the Drivers' License Division, and in his opinion there was sufficient evidence to suspend the license of the appellant. Upon the proper proceeding the matter was brought before the District Court of the Third Judicial District of Salt Lake County, Utah, and upon that hearing (de novo) the court determined that the license as suspended should be affirmed.

Throughout appellant's brief there is a contention that the operative clauses of the law are unconstitutional due

to the fact that they are in violation of the due process clause of both the United States Constitution and the Constitution of Utah. In that respect, may we make this further observation. The fact that the suspension of a driver's license by a Motor Vehicle Administrator before affording the licensee an opportunity to be heard on the matter violates the due process clause of the 14th Amendment to the Federal Constitution, and likewise to that amendment of the Utah State Constitution which provides that no state shall deprive any person of life, liberty or property without due process of law, it has been determined by the courts construing statutes similar to ours in the following manner.

The Supreme Court of Florida, in expressing the majority view of the American courts on this point—that failure to provide such an opportunity for a prior hearing does not constitute a denial of due process of law—said in *Thornhill v. Kirkman*, 62 So. 2d 740 (1953) :

“Increase on highway casualties is one of the most impelling social questions now confronting the public. Civic bodies and law enforcement officers at every level are bending their efforts to reduce them. To hold that the Legislature must provide notice and a hearing to one charged with flagrantly abusing his use of the highways before he can be stopped from using them, would not only be unjust to the public, it would place an intolerable burden on enforcement officers. We think the provision for hearing after suspension of one's license meets every requirement of the process.”

Following through with the substance of the previous enunciation by the court, we are firmly of the opinion that the essence of a claim of denial of due process seems to be

that the appellant's license was suspended by the Director without a proper hearing. The statute does not require the Director to give such a hearing prior to suspension of a license, whenever he has reason to believe that the holder thereof is an improper or incompetent person to operate motor vehicles or is operating so as to endanger the public. The information upon which the Director acts may turn out to be erroneous (and for that reason the right of review before a board of appeal is given). We have no doubt that these provisions of law are reasonable regulations in the interest of safeguarding lives and property from highway accidents. The incident hardship upon an individual motorist, in having his license suspended pending investigation and review must be borne in deference to the greater public interest served by the statutory restriction. It seems to us that it is well settled that the concept of due process of law does not necessarily require the granting of a hearing prior to the taking of official action in the exercise of the police power. When justified by compelling public interest, the Legislature may authorize some action subject to later judicial review of its validity.

There seems to be some question in the brief of appellant that the suspension or revocation is a penalty and that the appellant has been twice in jeopardy and that as a result thereof certain violations previous to the one in 1958 should not be considered as a basis for his final suspension. Our law specifically provides that a suspension by the Director may be imposed if the licensee has three moving violations within a period of 18 consecutive months. In this case, the driver, Mr. McAnerney, while having been suspended by virtue of certain violations in 1957, still had three

consecutive violations within an 18 month period from that time until 1958 when his license was finally suspended again by the Director of the License Division.

The argument with respect to the withdrawal of the driving privilege as being a penalty in addition to the fine or penalty imposed by the court where the law requires mandatory suspension or revocation, or discretionary suspension or revocation, is given consideration in the case of *Commonwealth v. Ellett*, 174 Va. 407, 4 S. E. 2d 762 (1939), wherein the court answered the argument as follows:

“Within the limits prescribed by law, the trial court fixed a measure of punishment for each offense. The penalty of being deprived of the right to operate a motor vehicle is not a part of, nor within the limits of the punishment to be fixed by the court or jury.”

And again in the case of *Pritchard v. Battle*, 178 Va. 455, 17 S. E. 2d 393 (1941), the court commented:

“The question as to whether the revocation of a license because of an act for which the licensee has been convicted or because of the conviction itself is an added punishment has frequently been before the courts. The universal holding is that such a revocation is not an added punishment, but is a finding that by reason of the commission of the act or the conviction of the licensee, the latter is no longer a person fit to hold and enjoy the privilege which the state had heretofore granted to him under its police power. The authorities agree that the purpose of the revocation is to protect the public and not to punish the licensee.”

It is quite possible that the proceedings before the Director were not in full accordance with judicial practices, but, nevertheless, he, acting in a quasi judicial capacity, had the right to either subpoena or not to subpoena witnesses unless demand was made upon him by the appellant (which demand was not made) and to examine the licensee and from such examination to determine whether or not the appellant McAnerney, was in his judgment a habitual negligent driver and a menace on the highways of the State of Utah. The District Court, having full jurisdiction, considered the facts and the evidence, and determined that the appellant was a habitual negligent driver and was, therefore not entitled to have his license reinstated.

CONCLUSION

We submit that the respondent, Mr. Miller, acted within his administrative powers and that the District Court, in sustaining him in such action, did not err. We therefore further submit that the decision of the lower court should be affirmed and that the appellant go hence with his costs herein incurred.